

January 3, 2014

Disclosure Department

Philippine Stock Exchange PSE Centre, Exchange Road Ortigas Center, Pasig City

Attention: Ms. Janet Encarnacion

Head, Disclosure Department

Gentlemen:

We furnish you herewith a copy of the Annual Corporate Governance Report of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation (MHC), whiich we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Very truly yours,

Compliance Officer

35/F, Rufino Pacific Tower, 6784 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 1223, Philippines Tel (632) 750-2000 Fax (632) 751-0773







SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECBuilding, EDSA, Greenhills, Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila, Philippines Tel: (632) 726-0931 to 39 Fax: (632) 725-5293 Email: mis@sec.gov.ph

Barcode Page

The following document has been received:

Receiving Officer/Encoder: Julius N. Salustiano

Receiving Branch : SEC Head Office

Receipt Date and Time: January 03, 2014 03:28:58 PM

Received From : Head Office

Company Representative

Doc Source

Company Information

SEC Registration No. 0000150014

Company Name MABUHAY HOLDINGS CORP.

Industry Classification

Company Type Stock Corporation

Document Information

Document ID 101032014002015

Document Type LETTER/MISC

Document Code LTR

Period Covered January 02, 2014

No. of Days Late 0

Department CED/CFD/CRMD/MRD/NTD

Remarks ACGR 2012

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC FORM – ACGR

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.	Report is Filed for the Year2012
2.	Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter MABUHAY HOLDINGS CORPORATION
3.	35/F Rufino Pacific Tower 6784 Ayala Avenue, Makati City Address of Principal Office Postal Code
4.	SEC Identification Number 150014 5. (SEC Use Only)
_	Industry Classification Code
6.	BIR Tax Identification Number 000-473-206-000
7.	(632) 7502000_ Issuer's Telephone number, including area code
8.	Not Applicable
	Former name or former address, if changed from the last report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	BOARD	MATTERS	3
	1)	BOARD OF DIRECTORS	
		(a) Composition of the Board	3
		(b) Corporate Governance Policy/ies	3
		(c) Review and Approval of Vision and Vision	4
		(d) Directorship in Other Companies	4
		(e) Shareholding in the Company	6
	2)	CHAIRMAN AND CEO	6
	3)	PLAN FOR SUCCESSION OF CEO/MANAGING DIRECTOR/PRESIDENT AND TOP KEY POSITION	S7
	4)	OTHER EXECUTIVE, NON-EXECUTIVE AND INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS	7
	5)	CHANGES IN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	9
	6)	ORIENTATION AND EDUCATION PROGRAM	13
В.		DF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS	
	•	POLICIES	
	2)	DISSEMINATION OF CODE	15
	,	COMPLIANCE WITH CODE	
	4)	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	
		(a) Policies and Procedures	
		(b) Conflict of Interest	
	•	FAMILY, COMMERCIAL AND CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS	
	6)	ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION	17
c.		MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE	
	1)	SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS	
	2)	DETAILS OF ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS	
	3)	SEPARATE MEETING OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS	
	4)	QUORUM REQUIREMENT	
	5)	ACCESS TO INFORMATION	
	6)	EXTERNAL ADVICE	
	7)	CHANGES IN EXISTING POLICIES	19
D.	REMUI	NERATION MATTERS	
	1)	REMUNERATION PROCESS	
	2)	REMUNERATION POLICY AND STRUCTURE FOR DIRECTORS	
	3)	AGGREGATE REMUNERATION	
	•	STOCK RIGHTS, OPTIONS AND WARRANTS	
	5)	REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT	21
E.		COMMITTEES	
		NUMBER OF MEMBERS, FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	
	•	COMMITTEE MEMBERS	
		CHANGES IN COMMITTEE MEMBERS	
	4)	WORK DONE AND ISSUES ADDRESSED	
	5)	COMMITTEE PROGRAM	26
F.	RISK M	ANAGEMENT SYSTEM	26

	1) STATEMENT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM	26
	2) RISK POLICY	26
	3) CONTROL SYSTEM	
	3) CONTROL 3131EIVI	
G	INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL	28
J.		
	•	28
	2) INTERNAL AUDIT	
	(a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function	28
	(b) Appointment/Removal of Internal Auditor	28
	(c) Reporting Relationship with the Audit Committee	28
	(d) Resignation, Re-assignment and Reasons	
	(e) Progress against Plans, Issues, Findings and	
	Examination Trends	20
	(f) Audit Control Policies and Procedures	
	(g) Mechanisms and Safeguards	29
H.	ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS	30
I.	DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY	31
J.	RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS	32
	1) RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE EFFECTIVELY IN STOCKHOLDERS' MEETINGS	_
	2) TREATMENT OF MINORITY STOCKHOLDERS	
K.	,	
L.	CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES	
М.	BOARD, DIRECTOR, COMMITTEE AND CEO APPRAISAL	37
	INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS	

A. BOARD MATTERS

1) Board of Directors

Number of Directors per Articles of Incorporation	7
Actual number of Directors for the year	7

(a) Composition of the Board

Complete the table with information on the Board of Directors:

Director's Name	Type [Executive (ED), Non- Executive (NED) or Independent Director (ID)]	If nominee, identify the principal	Nominator in the last election (if ID, state the relationship with the nominator)	Date first elected	Date last elected (if ID, state the number of years served as ID) ¹	Elected when (Annual /Special Meeting)	No. of years served as director
Roberto V. San Jose	NED		Araceli C. Molina	2003	Oct. 2012	ASM*	10
Esteban G. Peña Sy	ED		Araceli C. Molina	2006	Oct. 2012	ASM*	7
Kong Muk Yin	NED		Araceli C. Molina	2009	Oct. 2012	ASM*	4
Ana Maria A. Katigbak	NED		Araceli C. Molina	1999	Oct. 2012	ASM*	12
Wong Peng Chong	NED		Araceli C. Molina	2009	Oct. 2012	ASM*	4
Rodrigo B. Supeña	ID		Araceli C. Molina (not related to ID)	2009	Oct. 2012	ASM*	4
Steven G. Virata	ID		Araceli C. Molina (not related to ID)	2006	Oct. 2012	ASM*	7

^{*}Annual Stockholders Meeting held on October 5, 2012

(b) Provide a brief summary of the corporate governance policy that the board of directors has adopted. Please emphasize the policy/ies relative to the treatment of all shareholders, respect for the rights of minority shareholders and of other stakeholders, disclosure duties, and board responsibilities.

Treatment of all shareholders

Each share entitles the holder to one vote that may be exercised in person or by proxy at shareholder meetings, including the Annual Stockholders' Meeting. The shareholders have the right to elect, remove and replace directors and vote on certain corporate acts in accordance with the Corporation Code. Voting procedures on matters presented for approval to the stockholders in the Annual Stockholders' Meeting are set out in the Definitive Information Statement, which is sent out to all stockholders of record at least 15 business days before the date of meeting. It is the duty of the Board to promote the rights of the stockholders, remove impediments to the exercise of those rights and provide an adequate avenue for them to seek timely redress for breach of their rights. Accurate and timely information should be made available to the stockholders to enable them to make a sound judgment on all matters brought to their attention for consideration or approval.

Respect for the rights of minority shareholders and of other stakeholders

The Board of Directors ensures that all rights of stockholders as mandated and set forth in the Corporation Code of the Philippines, Articles of Incorporation and By Laws of the Company shall be respected. Among these rights of stockholders as provided for in the Corporation Code are: right to vote on all matters that require their consent or approval; right to inspect corporate books and records; right to information; right to dividends; and appraisal right.

Although all stockholders should be treated equally or without discrimination, minority stockholders may request in writing the holding of meetings and the items for discussion in the agenda that relate directly to a legitimate purpose and the business of the Corporation, subject to the requirement under the By-laws that such requesting stockholder is the holder of record of not less than one-fourth of the outstanding voting

¹ Reckoned from the election immediately following January 2, 2012.

capital stock of the Corporation.

Disclosure Duties

The essence of corporate governance is transparency. The Board believes that the more transparent the internal workings of the corporation are, the more difficult it will be for Management and dominant stockholders to mismanage the corporation or misappropriate its assets. It is therefore essential that all material information about the corporation which could adversely affect its viability or the interest of the stockholders should be publicly and timely disclosed. Such information include, among others, earnings results, acquisition or disposition of assets, off balance sheet transactions, related party transactions, minimum public ownership, direct/ indirect remuneration of members of the Board and Management and other corporate disclosures required for reporting by the regulators.

All required information are fully disclosed through the submissions and filings made to the SEC and the PSE.

Board Responsibilities

It is the Board's responsibility to foster the long-term success of the Corporation, and to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner consistent with its corporate objectives and the best interests of its stockholders.

The Board recognizes that a good corporate governance system is integral to the mandate bestowed upon them by the Company's stockholders. They are fully conscious of their fiduciary duties, accountabilities and responsibilities to all stakeholders, and they subscribe to the belief that the pursuit of corporate goals must be bound by high ethical standards. Its duties and responsibilities as defined in the Company's amended Bylaws include: (1) acting on a fully informed basis, in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders; (2) staying up-to date on developments in finance and corporate governance; (3) acting with confidentiality and discretion in the use of information proprietary to the Company; (4) avoiding any conflict of interest; (5) conducting fair business transactions with the Corporation (6)disclosing any relationship that can compromise a Director's independence;(7) fostering a non-discriminatory work and business environment; (8) exercising due prudence in the use of Company's resources; (9) keeping Board authority within powers of the institution; (10) respecting the rights of all stakeholders; (11) submitting to a vote of shareholders all matters requiring their approval under the Corporation Code; (12) adhering to all laws and regulations defining the Board's obligations

- (c) How often does the Board review and approve the vision and mission? The Board reviews and approves the Company's vision and mission when it deems necessary to do so.
- (d) Directorship in Other Companies
 - (i) Directorship in the Company's Group²

Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company's Board of Directors who hold the office of director in other companies within its Group:

Director's Name	Corporate Name of the Group Company	Type of Directorship (Executive, Non-Executive, Independent). Indicate if director is also the Chairman.
Esteban G. Peña Sy	IRC Properties, Inc.	Chairman, ED
	M&M Holdings Corporation	Chairman, ED
	Mindanao Appreciation Corp.	Chairman, ED
	T&M Holdings Corporation	Chairman, ED
	Tagaytay Properties and Holdings Corporation	Chairman, ED
	The Angeles Corporation	Chairman, ED
	The Taal Company, Inc.	Chairman, ED
Roberto V. San Jose	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
	M&M Holdings Corporation	NED
	Mindanao Appreciation Corp.	NED

² The Group is composed of the parent, subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the company.

	T&M Holdings Corporation	NED
	Tagaytay Properties and	NED
	Holdings Corporation	NED
	The Angeles Corporation	NED
	The Taal Company, Inc.	NED
Kong Muk Yin	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
Wong Peng Chong	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
Rodrigo B. Supeña	IRC Properties, Inc.	ID
Steven G. Virata	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED

(ii) Directorship in Other Listed Companies

Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the company's Board of Directors who are also directors of publicly-listed companies outside of its Group:

Director's Name	Name of Listed Company	Type of Directorship (Executive, Non-Executive, Independent). Indicate if director is also the Chairman.
Roberto V. San Jose	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
	Anglo Phil. Holdings Corp.	NED
	Vulcan Industrial & Mining Corp.	NED
	ISM Communications Corporation	NED
Esteban G. Peña Sy	IRC Properties, Inc.	ED
Kong Muk Yin	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
	COL Capital Limited*	ED
	APAC Resources Limited*	ED
	China Vision Media Group Limited*	NED
Wong Peng Chong	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED
	COL Capital Limited*	ED
Ana Maria A. Katigbak	Vulcan Industrial & Mining Corp.	NED
Rodrigo B. Supeña	IRC Properties, Inc.	ID
Steven G. Virata	IRC Properties, Inc.	NED

^{*} the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "SEHK")

(iii) Relationship within the Company and its Group

Provide details, as and if applicable, of any relation among the members of the Board of Directors, which links them to significant shareholders in the company and/or in its group:

Director's Name	Name of the Significant Shareholder	Description of the relationship
Esteban G. Peña Sy	Prokey Investment Ltd.	President and Owner
Wong Peng Chong	Year Champion Investments Ltd.*	ED of COL Capital Ltd*
Kong Muk Yin	Year Champion Investments Ltd.*	ED of COL Capital Ltd*

^{*}Year Champion Investments Ltd is a directly wholly owned subsidiary of Bestford International Limited, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of COL Capital Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong.

(iv) The company has not yet set any limit on the number of board seats in other companies (publicly listed, ordinary and companies with secondary license) that an individual director or CEO may hold simultaneously as the company believes it is not necessary at this time taking into consideration the present circumstances of the company, such as, operational needs of the company and the vailability of the directors and CEO when needed,. The company will provide such limit and guidelines when the circumstances in the future would warrant the same.

	Guidelines	Maximum Number of Directorships in other companies
Executive Director		
Non-Executive Director		
CEO		

(e) Shareholding in the Company

Complete the following table on the members of the company's Board of Directors who directly and indirectly own shares in the company:

Name of Director	Number of Direct shares	Number of Indirect shares / Through (name of record owner)	% of Capital Stock
Roberto V. San Jose	600		-nil-
Esteban G. Peña Sy	50	351,289,763 (Prokey) 2,010,000 (PCD)	29.44%
Kong Muk Yin	50		-nil-
Ana Maria A. Katigbak	50		-nil-
Wong Peng Chong	50		-nil-
Rodrigo B. Supeña	50		-nil-
Steven G. Virata	100		-nil-

2) Chairman and CEO

(a)	Do different persons assume the role of Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO? If no, describe the
	checks and balances laid down to ensure that the Board gets the benefit of independent views.

Yes	Х	No	

Identify the Chair and CEO:

Chairman of the Board	Roberto V. San Jose
CEO/President	Esteban G. Peña Sy

(b) Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Chairman and CEO.

	Chairman	Chief Executive Officer
Role	He effectively manages the affairs of the Board. He exercises such powers which are given him by the company's By-Laws and such other duties customarily incident to the said office and those which may be prescribed by the Board of directors from time to time. Generally he ensures that the Board is effective in its tasks of setting and implementing the company's direction and strategy.	Generally the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall be responsible for the effective management of the Company. He supervises and manages the internal organization and business affairs of the Corporation and ensures that the administrative and operational policies of the Corporation are carried out under his supervision and control.
Accountabilities	Presiding at all meetings of the Stockholders and of the Board of Directors. Maintaining qualitative and timely lines of communication and information between the Board and Management. Holding board meetings in accordance with the by-laws or as he may deem necessary.	Upon authority granted by the Board of Directors the President; • signs deeds, bonds, contracts, or other instruments; • authorizes the purchase or acquisition of properties, furniture, fixtures, or other office equipments • approves all expenses or disbursements authorized in the budget of the Corporation • represents the Corporation in any negotiation which may be necessary to

		make in the usual course of business represents the Corporation in any judicial or administrative proceedings appoints and discharges employees occupying the positions authorized by the Board of Director performs all other duties customarily incident to his office and as may be prescribed by the Board from time to time.
Deliverables	Meeting agenda prepared by the Corporate Secretary considers suggestions of the President, Management and the directors. Recommendations regarding the business of the Corporation is submitted for consideration of the Board of Directors.	Submits and recommends for Board approval: • short and long range plans for the Corporation; • Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Statement, Budget of administration expenses and • Annual Report on the operation and condition of the Corporation Executes all resolutions of the stockholders and the Board of directors.

3) Explain how the board of directors plan for the succession of the CEO/Managing Director/President and the top key management positions?

The Board of Directors through its Nomination and Remuneration Committees and upon endorsement by the Executive Management reviews and evaluates the qualifications of all persons nominated to the Board as well as those nominated to other positions which includes the CEO/President and the top key management positions to ensure that only qualified, competent, honest and highly motivated officials are appointed. The Company when necessary may also engage the services of professional recruitment or reputable job placement agencies or organizations to source candidates for management and executive level jobs.

4) Other Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors

Does the company have a policy of ensuring diversity of experience and background of directors in the board? If yes. Please explain.

Directors sitting in the Board shall have the necessary skills, competence and experience, in terms of management capabilities. They should possess practical understanding of the business of the Company.

Does it ensure that at least one non-executive director has an experience in the sector or industry the company belongs to? Please explain.

As mentioned in our Definitive Information Statement and Annual Report, we have non-executive directors who possess the competence and experience in the field of finance, real estate and related disciplines where the Company belongs to.

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors:

	Executive	Non-Executive	Independent Director
Role	Generally the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall be responsible for the effective management of the Company. He shall supervise and manage the internal organization and business affairs of the Corporation and ensure that the administrative and operational policies of the Corporation are carried out under his supervision and control.	A director's office is one of trust and confidence. Directors should act in the best interest of the corporation in a manner characterized by transparency, accountability and fairness. He should also exercise leadership, prudence and integrity in directing the corporation towards sustained progress. In addition, an independent director identifies the most critical issues for the board to deal with and assist the board in achieving consensus on important issues.	
Accountabilities	Upon authority granted by the Board of Directors the President; • signs deeds, bonds, contracts, or other instruments; • authorizes the purchase or acquisition of properties, furniture, fixtures, or other	He shall observe the following norms of conduct: • Conduct fair business transactions with the corporation and ensure that personal interest does not prejudice Board decisions; • Devotes time and attention necessary to properly discharge	

	1		
	office equipments • approves all expenses or disbursements authorized in the budget of the Corporation • represents the Corporation in any negotiation which may be necessary to make in the usual course of business • represents the Corporation in any judicial or administrative proceedings • appoints and discharge employees occupying the positions authorized by the Board of Director • performs all other duties customarily incident to his office and as may be prescribed by the Board from time to time.	his duties and responsibilities;	
Deliverables	Submits and recommends for Board approval: • short and long range plans for the Corporation; • Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Statement, Budget of administration expenses and • Annual Report on the operation and condition of the Corporation Executes all resolutions of the stockholders and the Board of directors.	The Board establishes the general policies and guidelines which will enable Management to render an effective management of the Company and as part of which undertakes to: • Formulate company's vision and mission; • Approve and confirm management's corporate strategies, major plans of actions, risk policy, annual budget and business plan; • Adopts a succession plan • Review annually the Company's compliance with its Code of Corporate Governance; • Approve corporate policies on major areas of operations, including Underwriting, Investments, Reinsurance Claims management • Ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal control and management information systems • Approves annual budget and general expenses upon recommendation of the President • Submits annually at regular General Meeting of Stockholders the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Statement and Annual Report on the Corporation;	

Provide the company's definition of "independence" and describe the company's compliance to the definition. **Independent Director** refers to a person other than an officer or employee of the Corporation, its parent or subsidiaries, or any other individual having any relationship with the Corporation, which would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities or a director. This means that apart from directors' fees and shareholdings, he should be independent of

Management and free from any business or other relationships which could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment. He must also possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications of an independent director provided under IC Circular Letter No. 31-2005, SRC Rule 38, the SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, and other relevant IC and SEC issuances and regulations.

Pursuant to the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC, independent directors are nominated and elected in the Annual Stockholders' Meeting and each director issues a certification confirming his independence within 30 days from his election. Messrs. Rodrigo B. Supeña and Steven G. Virata are currently the Company's Independent Directors.

Does the company have a term limit of five consecutive years for independent directors? If after two years, the company wishes to bring back an independent director who had served for five years, does it limit the term for no more than four additional years? Please explain.

The Company follows the SEC's guidelines on setting the term limit for an Independent Director. The Company will formalize its policy which will be consistent with the related SEC Memorandum Circular 9, Series of 2011 on the Term Limits for Independent Directors, which took effect on January 2, 2012.

- 5) Changes in the Board of Directors (Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors)
 - (a) Resignation/Death/Removal

Indicate any changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that happened during the period: None

Name	Position	Date of Cessation	Reason
No changes during the period			

(b) Selection/Appointment, Re-election, Disqualification, Removal, Reinstatement and Suspension

Describe the procedures for the selection/appointment, re-election, disqualification, removal, reinstatement and suspension of the members of the Board of Directors. Provide details of the processes adopted (including the frequency of election) and the criteria employed in each procedure:

Procedure	Process Adopted	Criteria
a. Selection/Appointment		
(i) Executive Directors (we have only one Executive Director who is also the President / CEO)	The Board thru its Nomination Committee pre-screens the qualifications of all nominees to the Board of Directors, taking into consideration the relevant issuances of the Securities and Exchange Commission. At the organizational meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board elects the officers of the Company and designates the members of the corporate governance committees.	Qualifications of Regular Directors: Directors sitting on the Board must own at least twenty (20) shares of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation which share shall stand in his name in the books of the Corporation. Directors sitting in the Board shall possess the necessary skills, competence and experience, in terms of management capabilities. Directors must possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications of regular directors under the MHC Revised Manual of Corporate Governance. The Board of directors may provide for additional qualifications of a director, such as but not limited to the following: (a) educational attainment, (b) practical understanding of the business, (c) membership in good standing in relevant industry, business, or professional organizations and (d) previous business experience.
(ii) Non-Executive Directors	(Process adopted is similar as stated above)	(Same criteria provided above)
(iii) Independent Directors	(Process adopted is similar as stated above)	Additional Qualifications of Independent Directors- apart from the qualifications set forth above: (a) A candidate for independent director must be independent of the Corporation's management and free from any business or other relationship which could, or could

reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities as a director of the Corporation. (b) He should satisfy the definition, possess the qualifications and none of the disqualifications as provided by the SRC Rule 38 on the requirements on nomination and election of Independent Directors. (c) If the beneficial equity ownership of an independent director in the Corporation or its subsidiaries and affiliates exceeds two percent (2%) of its subscribed capital stock. The disqualification shall be lifted if the limit is later complied with. b. Re-appointment (i) Executive Directors (ii) Non-Executive Directors Same process as appointment/selection (iii) Independent Directors c. Permanent Disqualification Permanent Disqualifications Any person convicted by final judgment or order by a competent judicial or administrative body of any crime that (a) involves the purchase or sale of securities, as defined in the Securities Regulation Code; (b) arises out of the person's conduct as an underwriter, broker, dealer, investment adviser, principal, distributor, mutual fund dealer, futures commission merchant, commodity trading advisor, or floor broker; or (c) arises out of his fiduciary relationship with a bank, quasi-bank, trust company, investment house or as an affiliated person of any of them; Any person who, by reason of misconduct, after hearing, is permanently enjoined by a final judgment or order of the Commission Nomination Committee shall or any court or administrative body of review and evaluate the competent jurisdiction from: (a) acting as qualifications of all persons underwriter, broker, dealer, investment nominated to the Board of adviser, principal distributor, mutual fund Directors. dealer, futures commission merchant, It shall pre-screen the (i) Executive Directors commodity trading advisor, or floor broker; qualifications of all nominees to (b) acting as director or officer of a bank, the Board of Directors, taking quasi-bank, trust company, investment into consideration the relevant house, or investment company; (c) issuances of the Securities and engaging in or continuing any conduct or Exchange Commission. practice in any of the capacities mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above, or willfully violating the laws that govern securities and banking activities. The disqualification shall also apply if such person is currently the subject of an order of the Commission or any court or administrative body denying, revoking or suspending any registration, license or permit issued to him under the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation Code or any other law administered by the Commission, or under any rule or regulation issued by the Commission, or has otherwise been restrained to engage in any activity involving securities; or such person is currently the subject of an effective order of a self-regulatory organization suspending or expelling him from membership,

or participant of the organization; Any person convicted by final judgment or order by a court or competent administrative body of an offense involving moral turpitude, freud, embezdiment, theft, estafa, counterfeiting, misappropriation, forgery, bribery, false affirmation, perjury or other fraudulent act; Any person who has been adjudged by final judgment or order of the Commission, or control of the Commission or BSP, or any of its rule, regulation of any provision of the Commission or BSP, or any of its rule, regulation or order; Any person earlier elected as independent director who becomes an officer, employee or consultant of the Corporation; Any person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct animals to any of the acts, violations or misconduct enumerated above. Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than ax (6) years, or a violation or misconduct enumerated above. Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than ax (6) years, or a violation or misconduct enumerated above. (iii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent dis		
order by a court or competent administrative body of an offense involving moral turpitude, fraud, embez-lement, theft, estafa, counterfeiting, the estafa, counterfeiting, misappropriation, forgery, bribery, false affirmation, perjury or other fraudulent acts; Any person who has been adjudged by final judgment or order of the Commission, court, or competent administrative body to have writintly violated, or writifully aided, aberted, counseld, induced or procured the violation of any provision of the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation Code or any other law administerably the Commission or SSP, or any of its rule, regulation or order; any other than administerably the Commission or SSP, or any of its rule, regulation or order; Any person earlier elected as independent director who becomes an officer, employee or consultant of the Corporation; Any person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign count or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct inflancial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct enumerated above; Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (iii) Non-Executive Directors (iiii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Scontines Regulation Code and 15 Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant to the shall likewise be disqualified during hit tenue under the following instances or clauses: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the contraction of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such member of the benefits described t		participation or association with a member or participant of the organization;
judgment or order of the Commission, court, or competent administrative body to have willfully violated, or willfully violated, or willfully violated, or willfully violated, abetted, counseled, induced or procured the violation of any provision of the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation Code or any other law administered by the Commission or BSP, or any of its rule, regulation or order, and interest with the commission or BSP, or any of its rule, regulation or order or order. Any person earlier elected as independent director who becomes an officer, employee or consultant of the Corporation. Any person judicially declared as insolvent; Any person found guilty by final judgment or order or a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct enumerated above; Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (iii) Non-Executive Directors (iii) Independent Directors (iiii) Independent		order by a court or competent administrative body of an offense involving moral turpitude, fraud, embezzlement, theft, estafa, counterfeiting, misappropriation, forgery, bribery, false affirmation, perjury or other fraudulent
director who becomes an officer, employee or consultant of the Corporation; Any person judicially declared as insolvent; Any person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct enumerated above; Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (ii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directory tixtuees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Falls, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during the cause to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings d		judgment or order of the Commission, court, or competent administrative body to have willfully violated, or willfully aided, abetted, counseled, induced or procured the violation of any provision of the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation Code or any other law administered by the Commission or BSP, or any of its rule,
Any person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct enumerated above; Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (iii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Falls, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his		director who becomes an officer, employee
or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct enumerated above; Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code mmitted within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (ii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his		Any person judicially declared as insolvent;
punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. (iii) Non-Executive Directors (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his		or order of a foreign court or equivalent financial regulatory authority of facts, violations or misconduct similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct
disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) (Same criteria for permanent disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his		punishable by imprisonment for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or
disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his	(ii) Non-Executive Directors	disqualifications, as stated above for
incumbency;	(iii) Independent Directors	disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors) The disqualifications of an independent director shall be as provided for under SEC Revised Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the SEC. He shall likewise be disqualified during his tenure under the following instances or causes: 1. He becomes an officer or employee of the corporation where he is such member of the board of directors/trustees, or becomes any of the persons enumerated under Section II (5) of the Code of Corporate Governance 2. His beneficial security ownership exceeds two (2) percent of the outstanding capital stock of the company where he is such director; 3. Fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of Board meetings during his

		4.0 1 11 12 120 11 11 11
		4. Such other disqualifications which the covered company's Manual of Corporate Governance provides. 5. A securities broker-dealer is likewise disqualified from sitting as an independent director of listed companies and registered issuers of securities.
d. Temporary Disqualification		
(i) Executive Directors	Nomination Committee shall review and evaluate the qualifications of all persons nominated to the Board of Directors. It shall pre-screen the qualifications of all nominees to the Board of Directors, taking into consideration the relevant issuances of the Securities and Exchange Commission.	Any of the following shall be a ground for the temporary disqualifications of a director: 1. Refusal to comply with the disclosure requirements of the Securities Regulation Code and its implementing Rules and Regulations, and the disqualification shall be in effect as long as the refusal persists. 2. Absence in more than fifty (50) percent of all regular and special meetings of the board during his incumbency or any twelve months during the said incumbency, unless the absence is due to illness, death in the immediate family or serious accident. 3. Dismissal or termination for cause as director of any corporation covered by this Code. 4. Beneficial equity ownership of an independent director in the corporation or its subsidiary exceeds two (2) percent of its subscribed capital stock. 5. If any of the judgment or orders cited in the grounds for permanent disqualifications has not yet become final. 6. A temporarily disqualified director shall, within 60 business days from such disqualification, take the appropriate action to remedy or correct the disqualification. If he fails or refuses to do so for unjustified reasons, the disqualification shall become permanent.
(ii) Non-Executive Directors	(Same process stated above for Executive Directors is adopted.)	(Same criteria for temporary disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors is adopted.)
(iii) Independent Directors	(Same process stated above for Executive Directors is adopted.)	(Same criteria for temporary disqualifications, as stated above for Executive Directors is adopted.)
e. Removal		
(i) Executive Directors	Vacancy in the Board. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors, other than those caused by removal by the stockholders or expiration of term, shall be filled by the vote of at least a majority of the remaining directors, if still constituting a quorum; otherwise, said vacancies must be filled by the stockholders in a regular or special meeting called for that purpose. A director so elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected only for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.	He possesses any of the criteria enumerated for permanent disqualifications, as stated above
(ii) Non-Executive Directors (iii) Independent Directors	(same process as stated above is adopted) Nomination Committee shall review	He possesses any of the criteria enumerated for permanent disqualifications, as stated above He possesses any of the criteria
(iii) independent Directors	and evaluate the qualifications of all	enumerated for permanent Page

f. Re-instatement	persons nominated to the Board of Directors. The termination and cessation of an Independent director shall be governed by the provisions of SEC Memorandum Circular 2, otherwise known as the Code of Corporate Governance, the Securities Regulation Code and its Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations, and such other relevant issuances of the Securities and Exchange Commission.	disqualifications, as stated above
(i) Executive Directors	(Same process as stated above in the selection/appointment and re-election	(Same criteria is used as stated above in the selection/appoint-ment and re-election of
(ii) Non-Executive Directors	of both regular and independent	both regular and independent directors is adopted.)
(iii) Independent Directors	directors is adopted.)	adopted.)
g. Suspension		
(i) Executive Directors	(Same process as stated above in the removal of both regular and	(Same criteria is used as stated above in the removal of both
(ii) Non-Executive Directors	independent directors is adopted.)	regular and independent directors is
(iii) Independent Directors		adopted.

Voting Result of the last Annual General Meeting

Name of Director	Votes Received
Roberto V. San Jose	The number of nominees for directors was 7 and this
Esteban G. Peña Sy	equalled the number of board seats available so that upon the resolutions of the stockholders during the annual general meeting, each of the said 7 nominees for directors
Kong Muk Yin	
Ana Maria A. Katigbak	received equal number of votes of 115,860,095 each.
Wong Peng Chong	
Rodrigo B. Supeña	
Steven G. Virata	

6) Orientation and Education Program

(a) Disclose details of the company's orientation program for new directors, if any.

The Company does not have a formal orientation program however, new directors are provided with reference reading materials to assist them in understanding better the business and operations of the Company. Among the reading materials provided are: (1) Audited Financial Statements, (2) SEC Form 20-IS- Information Statement/ Annual Report, (3) Revised Manual of Corporate Governance, (4) Amended Articles of Incorporation, (5) Amended By-laws, (6) MHC Company Policy Manual that includes the Company's Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct, (7) Definitive Information Statement, (8) Board Committee Charters, (9) Minutes of Annual Stockholders' Meeting, (10) Other relevant write-ups, references or real estate industry reports.

(b) State any in-house training and external courses attended by Directors and Senior Management³ for the past three (3) years:

³ Senior Management refers to the CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company.

(c)

Name of Director/Officer	Date of Training	Program	Name of Training Institution
Wong Peng Chong	6/21/2012	Amendment of Listing Rules* – Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information	Fred Kan & Co.**
Kong Muk Yin	6/12/2012	Amendment of Listing Rules* – Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information	Fred Kan & Co.**
Araceli C. Molina	9/15/10; 10/20/10; 10/13/11	Corporate Governance	Institute of Corporate Directors
Araceli C. Molina	11/29/12	PSE Annual Listing & Disclosure Rules	Philippine Stock Exchange

(d) Continuing education programs for directors: programs and seminars and roundtables attended during the year.

Name of Director/Officer	Date of Training	Program	Name of Training Institution
Wong Peng Chong	6/21/2012	Amendment of Listing Rules* – Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information	Fred Kan & Co. ^{**}
Kong Muk Yin	6/12/2012	Amendment of Listing Rules* – Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information	Fred Kan & Co. ^{**}

^{*} the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK

B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS

1) Discuss briefly the company's policies on the following business conduct or ethics affecting directors, senior management and employees:

Business Conduct & Ethics	Directors	Senior Management	Employees
(a) Conflict of Interest	conflict with their work or j properly so that his good fa conflict of interest may occ Confidentiality No employee shall, without nature concerning the Comp such information to his/her Other employment / Outsia Employment with the Comengage in other gainful emp adversely affect the employ with the Company's interest an officer or director of a Executive Committee of Minany management capacit to do business with the Com Own/family's interest in an It is considered in conflict with the town of the sp. when there is an oppor interest comprises securities material. Where such a con in the transaction. Gifts/perquisites An employee should not accomaterials, services repairs a in cash or in kind and gift ce	authority, give or release to anyone any data or inform, such as those relating to decisions, plans or of personal advantage and not to the best interest of the interests. I pany is regarded as a full-time occupation during alloyment with another employer or engage in any of yee's performance during working hours. It is constituted in the interest of the Board of the Company without the consent of the Board or	pected to conduct himself the following are areas where formation of confidential competitive bids, or to use fithe Company. If the Company. If working hours. No employee tother interest which will idered to be in conflict If of Directors or If ther company doing or seeking If we work in the company, the seeking with the Company, the interest which will interest is not getting involved or participating If work in the company, the interest is not getting involved or participating If work in the company, The interest is not getting involved or participating If work in the company, The interest is not getting involved or participating If work in the company, The interest in the company

^{**} a law firm in Hong Kong

		favors, but in no case should the value thereof exceed nominal proportions. Standing for elections
		In order that the Company can avoid involvement or identification with any political party, an employee who wishes to run for elections must resign from the Company upon the employee's submission of his application for the position desired.
(b)	Conduct of Business and Fair Dealings	In competition and fair dealings, the company's Directors, Senior Management and Employees, shall: not take unfair advantage of anyone through manipulation, collusion, concealment, abuse of privileged information, or misrepresentation of material fact; not make false statements against competitors, their products and/or services; and exercise reasonable and prudent professional judgment when dealing with clients. deal fairly with the Company's customers, service providers, suppliers, competitors and employees
(c)	Receipt of gifts from third parties	An employee should not accept commissions, loans or advances (other than from financial institutions), materials, services repairs at no cost of at unreasonably low prices, excessive or extravagant entertainment, gifts in cash or in kind and gift certificates from any firm(s) or individual(s) doing or seeking to do business with the Company, in exchange for any favor, promise or reward. During occasions, employees may receive and favors, but in no case should the value thereof exceed nominal proportions.
(d)	Compliance with Laws & Regulations	Directors, officers and employees shall uphold right conduct and shall personally adhere to the norms and restrictions imposed by applicable laws, rules and regulations. They shall not accept demands brought on by prevailing business conditions or perceived pressures as excuses to violate any law, rule or regulation.
(e)	Respect for Trade Secrets/Use of Non- public Information	Directors, Officers and employees shall maintain and safeguard the confidentiality of information entrusted by the Company, customers, business partners or such other parties with whom the Company relates, except when disclosure is authorized or legally mandated. They should not trade the company's securities using price available publicly, and obtained by reason of position, contact within, or other relationship with the Company.
(f)	Use of Company Funds, Assets and Information	Directors, Officers and Employees shall use company property and resources including company time, supplies and software, efficiently, responsibly and only for legitimate business purposes only. They shall safeguard company assets from loss, damage, misuse or theft and shall respect intellectual property rights.
(g)	Employment & Labor Laws & Policies	Employment in the Company signifies willingness and commitment to perform according to standards set by management and to abide by all the policies and procedures as well as rules and regulations of the Company. The Company has an Employees' Manual of Policies and Procedures which provides for employee rights, obligations and sets policies on employee-related matters to ensure uniformity and consistency in the interpretation and implementation of Human Resources Policies and Programs, which are consistent with and in accordance with relevant provisions of the Labor Code.
(h)	Disciplinary action	In accordance with the Company's Code of Discipline and depending on the nature of the misconduct, the Company may mete out the following disciplinary actions to erring employees, officers and directors: (a) Verbal warning, (b) Written warning, (c) Suspension, and (d) Termination
(i)	Whistle Blower	No written policy on this.
(j)	Conflict Resolution	 Done in accordance with the Company's Code of Discipline: If an employee is aggrieved by disciplinary action taken by his superior, he/she may appeal within three (3) days of its occurrence in the following manner: (a) An employee alleging that he/she has a grievance must immediately lodge it in writing to his superior within three (3) days. (b) If the matter is not resolved within three (3) working days after such grievance is lodged, the matter will be referred to the Personnel Manager for mediation within a further period of three (3) days. (c) If the matter is still not resolved, the Executive Committee will form a Disciplinary Board comprising a member of the EXCO, the Personnel Manager and one (1) other manager. Investigation will be made and witnesses may be called to give evidence. The decision of the Disciplinary Board is final. Although no occurrence of conflict resolution had been experienced for Directors, a similar process will be followed.

- 2) Has the code of ethics or conduct been disseminated to all directors, senior management and employees? Yes
- 3) Discuss how the company implements and monitors compliance with the code of ethics or conduct.

 The Personnel Manager implements and monitors compliance with the Company's Code of Ethics. So far, no Director had been sanctioned for violation of the Company's Policies on Code of Ethics and Discipline.
- 4) Related Party Transactions
 - (a) Policies and Procedures

Describe the company's policies and procedures for the review, approval or ratification, monitoring and recording of related party transactions between and among the company and its parent, joint ventures, subsidiaries, associates, affiliates, substantial stockholders, officers and directors, including their spouses, children and dependent siblings and parents and of interlocking director relationships of members of the Board.

Related Party Transactions	Policies and Procedures
(1) Parent Company	Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control,

(2) Joint Ventures	directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or exercises	
(3) Subsidiaries	significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities	
(4) Entities Under Common Control	which are under common control with MHC, or between, and/or among its key management personnel, directors, or its shareholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely the legal form. Transactions entered into by the Company with related parties are at arm's length and have terms similar to the transactions entered into with third parties.	
(5) Substantial Stockholders		
(6) Officers including spouse/children/siblings/parents	Beneficial ownership transactions disclosed with SEC and PSE. Other	
(7) Directors including spouse/children/siblings/parents	transactions are at arm's length.	
(8) Interlocking director relationship of Board of Directors		

(b) Conflict of Interest

(i) Directors/Officers and 5% or more Shareholders

Identify any actual or probable conflict of interest to which directors/officers/5% or more shareholders may be involved.

	Details of Conflict
	of Interest (Actual or Probable)
Roberto B. San Jose, Chairman of the Board	Partner of Castillo Laman Tan Pantaleon & San Jose law offices, legal counsel of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation
Esteban G. Peña Sy, President	President/Owner of Prokey Investments, Ltd., a significant shareholder
Ana Maria Katigbak Lim, Director	Partner of Castillo Laman Tan Pantaleon & San Jose law offices, legal counsel of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation
Wong Peng Chong, Director	Interlocking directorship See 5(a) below
Kong Muk Yin, Director	Interlocking directorship See 5(a) below
Delfin P. Angcao, Corporate Secretary	Partner of Castillo Laman Tan Pantaloen & San Jose law offices, legal counsel of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation

(ii) Mechanism

Describe the mechanism laid down to detect, determine and resolve any possible conflict of interest between the company and/or its group and their directors, officers and significant shareholders.

	Directors/Officers/Significant Shareholders
Company	Policies requiring disclosures on direct and indirect beneficial ownership in
Group	accordance with the SEC and PSE rules.

5) Family, Commercial and Contractual Relations

(a) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a family, 4 commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between the holders of significant equity (5% or more), to the extent that they are known to the company:

Names of Related Significant Shareholders	Type of Relationship	Brief Description of the Relationship
Prokey Investments Ltd.	Interlocking Directorship	Esteban G. Peña Sy is the Owner and President of Prokey Investments Ltd. and President & Director of Mabuhay

⁴ Family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.

		Holdings Corporation.
Year Champion Investments Ltd.	Interlocking Directorship	Wong Peng Chong and Kong Muk Yin are executive directors of COL Capital Limited; Year Champion Investments Ltd., a substantial shareholder of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation, is a directly owned subsidiary of Bestford International Limited, a directly owned subsidiary of COL Capital Limited. Both Wong Peng Chong and Kong Muk Yin are non-executive directors of Mabuhay Holdings Corporation.

(b) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between the holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the company:

Names of Related Significant Shareholders	Type of Relationship	Brief Description
Prokey Investments Ltd.	Shareholder owning more than 5%	Interlocking Directorship
Year Champion Investments Ltd.	Shareholder owning more than 5%	Interlocking Directorship

(c) Indicate any shareholder agreements that may impact on the control, ownership and strategic direction of the company:

Name of Shareholders	Name of Shareholders % of Capital Stock affected (Parties)	
None		

6) Alternative Dispute Resolution

Describe the alternative dispute resolution system adopted by the company for the last three (3) years in amicably settling conflicts or differences between the corporation and its stockholders, and the corporation and third parties, including regulatory authorities.

	Alternative Dispute Resolution System	
Corporation & Stockholders		
Corporation & Third Parties	No conflict for the last 3 years	
Corporation & Regulatory Authorities		

C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE

1) Are Board of Directors' meetings scheduled before or at the beginning of the year? Board meetings are scheduled as the need arises.

2) Attendance of Directors

Board	Name	Date of Election	No. of Meetings Held during the year	No. of Meetings Attended	%
Chairman	Roberto V. San Jose	July 28, 2011	6	5	83%
Member	Esteban G. Peña Sy	July 28, 2011	6	6	100%
Member	Ana Maria A. Katigbak	July 28, 2011	6	6	100%
Member	Wong Peng Chong	July 28, 2011	6	4	67%

Member	Kong Muk Yin	July 28, 2011	6	4	67%
Independent	Steven G. Virata	July 28, 2011	6	6	100%
Independent	Rodrigo B. Supeña	July 28, 2011	6	6	100%

- 3) Do non-executive directors have a separate meeting during the year without the presence of any executive? If yes, how many times? Four (4) times
- 4) Is the minimum quorum requirement for Board decisions set at two-thirds of board members? Please explain. The quorum requirement meets what is set by the Corporation Code, which is, majority of the board members.
- 5) Access to Information
 - (a) How many days in advance are board papers⁵ for board of directors meetings provided to the board? Distributed at least three days before the board meeting.
 - (b) Do board members have independent access to Management and the Corporate Secretary? Yes
 - (c) State the policy of the role of the company secretary. Does such role include assisting the Chairman in preparing the board agenda, facilitating training of directors, keeping directors updated regarding any relevant statutory and regulatory changes, etc?

Yes, the Corporate Secretary prepares the board agenda for review and approval of the Chairman and the President. His other responsibilities are:

- Responsible for the safekeeping and preservation of the integrity of the minutes of the meetings of the Board and its committees, as well as the other official records of the Corporation;
- Be loyal to the mission, vision and objectives of the Corporation;
- Work fairly and objectively with the Board, Management and stockholders;
- Have appropriate administrative and interpersonal skills;
- Be aware of the laws, rules and regulations necessary in the performance of his duties and responsibilities;
- Have a working knowledge of the operations of the Corporation;
- Inform the members of the Board, in accordance with the by-laws of the agenda of their meetings and ensure that the members have before them accurate information that will enable them to arrive at intelligent decisions on matters that require their approval;
- Attend all Board meetings, except when justifiable causes, such as, illness, death in the immediate family and serious accidents, prevent him from doing so;
- Ensure that all Board procedures, rules and regulations are strictly followed by the members
- (d) Is the company secretary trained in legal, accountancy or company secretarial practices? Please explain should the answer be in the negative. Yes, the Company's Corporate Secretary is both a lawyer and a Certified Public Accountant.
- (e) Committee Procedures

Disclose whether there is a procedure that Directors can avail of to enable them to get information necessary to be able to prepare in advance for the meetings of different committees:

Yes	х	No	

Committee	Details of the procedures	
Executive		
Audit	Notice and Agenda are given at least three days before the meeting; The	
Nomination	Committees have free access to the management and staff for any queries to the meeting.	
Remuneration	to the meeting.	
Others (specify)		

-

⁵ Board papers consist of complete and adequate information about the matters to be taken in the board meeting. Information includes the background or explanation on matters brought before the Board, disclosures, budgets, forecasts and internal financial documents.

Indicate whether or not a procedure exists whereby directors can receive external advice and, if so, provide details:

Procedures	Details
The Directors have full access to Company's external counsel and	d external auditors for advice.

7) Change/s in existing policies

Indicate, if applicable, any change/s introduced by the Board of Directors (during its most recent term) on existing policies that may have an effect on the business of the company and the reason/s for the change:

Existing Policies	Changes	Reason
	No changes	

D. REMUNERATION MATTERS

1) Remuneration Process

Disclose the process used for determining the remuneration of the CEO and the four (4) most highly compensated management officers:

Process	CEO	Top 4 Highest Paid Management Officers	
(1) Fixed remuneration	Company Salary Structure, market rates used as a guide; salary adjustments based on performance and changes in responsibilities and authorities. Requires Board approval. Compensation and Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration and endorses to the Board for approval.		
(2) Variable remuneration		None	
(3) Per diem allowance	Requires Board approval. Compensation and Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration and endorses to the Board for approval. Existing per diem is P3,000/meeting.	None	
(4) Bonus	None	None other than 13 th Month Pay	
(5) Stock Options and other financial instruments	None		
(6) Others (specify)	None	Health Insurance: Executives and non-executive staff are covered by health insurance approved by the President. Retirement Pay: All employees are entitled to retirement benefits as provided for the in the New Retirement Law under the Labor Code after having served the Company for more than five (5) years and upon reaching the age of sixty (60) for voluntary retirement or sixty five (65) for compulsory retirement.	

2) Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Non-Executive Directors

Disclose the company's policy on remuneration and the structure of its compensation package. Explain how the compensation of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is calculated.

	Remuneration Policy	Structure of Compensation Packages	How Compensation is Calculated
	Follows Company's	Compensation / salary	Basic monthly salary
Executive Directors	salary structure and	package is composed of:	divided by 26.17 is used
	benefit package and	Basic monthly pay	to arrive at the daily

	Board-approved rate/package.	•	Company provided vehicle Representation and travel	rate used in computing other
	·		allowances	benefits (e.g.
		•	Annual vacation and sick	sick leave, vacation
			leave	leave, etc.)
		•	Health Insurance	
Non-Executive Directors	The Chairman of the Board ro other expenses of P20,000 p The Corporate Secretary	eceive per mo	g receive a per diem allowance o s an allowance for transportation onth subject to liquidation. the Independent Directors re nd other expenses of P10,000	on, representation and ceive an allowance for

Do stockholders have the opportunity to approve the decision on total remuneration (fees, allowances, benefits-in-kind and other emoluments) of board of directors? No. Provide details for the last three (3) years.

Remuneration Scheme	Date of Stockholders' Approval	
Not applicable		

3) Aggregate Remuneration

Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration accrued during the most recent year:

Remuneration Item	Executive Directors	Non-Executive Directors (other than independent directors)	Independent Directors	
(a) Fixed Remuneration	P 2,856,000	P 360,000	P 240,000	
(b) Variable Remuneration	None			
(c) Per diem Allowance	P 18,000	P 57,000	P 36,000	
(d) Bonuses	P 248,000	P 40,000	P 20,000	
(e) Stock Options and/or other financial instruments				
(f) Others (Leave Benefits)	P 309,209			
Total	P 3,431,209	P 457,000	P 296,000	

	Other Benefits	Executive Directors	Non-Executive Director (other than independent directors)	Independent Directors
1)	Advances			
2)	Credit granted			
3)	Pension Plan/s Contributions			
(d)	Pension Plans, Obligations incurred			
(e)	Life Insurance Premium			
(f)	Hospitalization Plan			
(g)	Car Plan			
(h)	Others (Health Insurance)	P 38,453		

Total	P 38,453	

4) Stock Rights, Options and Warrants: Not Applicable. The Company does not have stock rights, options, warrants.

(a) Board of Directors

Complete the following table, on the members of the company's Board of Directors who own or are entitled to stock rights, options or warrants over the company's shares:

Director's Name	Number of Direct Option/Rights/ Warrants	Number of Indirect Option/Rights/ Warrants	Number of Equivalent Shares	Total % from Capital Stock			
Not applicable							

(b) Amendments of Incentive Programs

Indicate any amendments and discontinuation of any incentive programs introduced, including the criteria used in the creation of the program. Disclose whether these are subject to approval during the Annual Stockholders' Meeting:

Incentive Program	Amendments	Date of Stockholders' Approval
	No amendments introduced	

5) Remuneration of Management

Identify the five (5) members of management who are <u>not</u> at the same time executive directors and indicate the total remuneration received during the financial year:

Name of Officer/Position	Total Remuneration		
Araceli C. Molina	0.470.000		
Alwin P. Rimante	P 479,000		

E. BOARD COMMITTEES

1) Number of Members, Functions and Responsibilities

Provide details on the number of members of each committee, its functions, key responsibilities and the power/authority delegated to it by the Board:

	No. of Members						
Committee	Executive Director (ED)	Non- executive Director (NED)	Independent Director (ID)	Committee Charter	Functions	Key Responsibilities	Power
Executive							
Audit		1	2	Audit Committee Charter	To assist the Board of Directors in	The Audit Committee has the following responsibilities:	The Audit Committee is empowered to

				fulfilling its	1. Provide oversight	conduct or
				oversight	over senior	authorize
				responsibilitie	Management's	investigations
				s particularly	activities in managing	into any matter
				in relation to	credit, market,	within its scope
				financial	liquidity, operational,	of responsibility,
					legal and other risks	
				reporting		and seek any
				integrity,	of MHC.	information it
				internal	2. Perform oversight	requires, including
				control, risk	functions over the	from MHC's
				management,	Corporation's internal	employees.
				and	and external auditors	, ,
				corporate	3. Review the annual	
				standards of	internal audit plan to	
					· ·	
				behavior.	ensure its conformity	
					with the objectives of	
					the Corporation.	
					4. Review the	
					appointment of an	
					independent external	
					auditor, the audit fees	
					and any question of	
					resignation or	
					_	
					dismissal.	
					5. Consider the	
					appointment of an	
					independent internal	
					auditor and the terms	
					and conditions of its	
					engagement and	
					removal, which shall	
					1	
					follow the procedure	
					laid down for external	
					auditors.	
					6.Monitor and	
					evaluate the adequacy	
					and effectiveness of	
					MHC's internal control	
					system, including	
					financial reporting	
					control and	
					information technology	
					security.	
					7. Receive and review the	
					reports of external	
					auditors, regulatory	
					agencies, where	
					applicable, and ensure that	
					MHC Management is	
					taking appropriate	
					corrective actions, in a	
					timely manner, in	
					addressing control and	
					compliance functions with	
					regulatory agencies;	
					8.Review the quarterly	
					(SEC Form 17-Q) and	
					annual financial	
					statements(as part of	
					SEC Form 17-A) before	
					submission to the	
					Board.	
					9. Coordinate, monitor and	
					II	
					facilitate compliance with	
					existing laws, rules and	
					regulations;	
					10. Evaluate and	
					determine non-audit	
					work by the external	
					auditor and keep	
					under review the non-	
					II	
					audit fees paid to the	
					external auditor both	
	-	-	-		·	

Nomination		1	2	No formal Committee Charter	Prescreen and shortlist all candidates nominated to become a member of the Board of Directors	in relation to their significance to the auditor and in relation to MHC's total expenditure on consultancy. Review and consider the guidelines on determining the number of directorship	Review the roles and duties of the CEO by integrating the dynamic requirements of the business as a going concern and future expansionary prospects within the realm of good corporate governance at all times.
Remuneration	1		2		Designate amount of remuneration in a sufficient level to attract and retain directors and officers	Establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors, if any, and officers	Develop a form on Full Business Interest Disclosure as part of the preemployment requirements for all incoming officers, which among others compel all officers to declare under the penalty of perjury all their existing business interests or shareholdings that may directly or indirectly conflict in their performance of duties once hired.
Others (specify)							

2) Committee Members

(a) Executive Committee: None

Office	Name	Date of Appointment	No. of Meetings Held	No. of Meetings Attended	%	Length of Service in the Committee		
Chairman								
Member (ED)	Not Applicable							
Member (NED)								
Member (ID)								
Member								

(b) Audit Committee

Office	Name	Date of Appointment	No. of Meetings Held	No. of Meetings Attended	%	Length of Service in the Committee
Chairman	Rodrigo B. Supeña (ID)	July 11, 2011	4	4	100	4
Member (ED)						
Member (NED)	Ana Maria Katigbak Lim	July 11, 2011	4	4	100	5
Member (ID)	Steven G. Virata	July 11, 2011	4	4	100	5
Member	Araceli C. Molina	July 11, 2011	4	4	100	5

Disclose the profile or qualifications of the Audit Committee members.

Rodrigo B. Supeña, Independent Director - Mr. Rodrigo B. Supeña has been elected as Independent Director of the Company since March 31, 2009, and has served as such for more than two years now. Mr. Supeña, a seasoned banker who previously held various key positions in Land Bank of the Philippines and Bank of the Philippine Islands, is currently a Consultant of Land Bank of the Philippines and a Board Member of LBP Leasing Corporation.

Atty. Ana Maria Katigbak, Director and Assistant Corporate Secretary – She holds the position of Assistant Corporate Secretary since 1999, or for more than five years now. She held the position of a director for seven years, or from 1999 to October 31, 2006, and then from June 27, 2007 up to the present. A member of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines and a graduate of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts in Comparative Literature (Cum Laude) at the University of the Philippines, she is currently a partner at the Castillo Laman Tan Pantaleon San Jose Law Offices. Her other business experience in the last 5 years are as follows: assistant corporate secretary of publicly-listed companies and registered membership clubs such as: Boulevard Holdings, Inc., Premier Entertainment Productions, Inc., Solid Group, Inc., The Metropolitan Club, Inc., AJO.net Holdings, Inc. and PhilWeb.Corporation. She is also a lecturer at the Thames International Business School, Philippine Campus.

Steven Gamboa Virata, Independent Director – He joined the Company in 2001 and has served as such for more than five years now. A degree holder of B.S. Architecture from the University of the Philippines, he has more than 10 years experience in the aviation industry, marketing, architecture, graphic design and production, theater industry and farm management. His other business experiences in the last 5 years are as follows: currently, he is a Director of C. Virata and Associates, ATAR-IV, Inc., Chilco Holdings Inc., and V.L. Araneta Properties, Inc. He was elected last year and is nominated this year, as an independent director.

Araceli C. Molina, Corporate Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer – effective August, 2004. An MBA graduate of De La Salle University, a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants, she has been for several years connected with listed companies such as Vulcan Industrial and Mining Corporation, A Brown Company, etc.. Her past affiliations cover dealings with banks and other financial institutions, the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc., and government agencies such as the Department of Energy, Securities and Exchange Commission and Bureau of Internal Revenue. She started her career with Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (SGV) as staff auditor.

Describe the Audit Committee's responsibility relative to the external auditor.

The Audit Committee does the following relative to the external auditor:

- Performs oversight functions over the Corporation's external auditors. It ensures that the external auditors are
 given unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel to enable them to perform their audit
 functions:
- Reviews the appointment of an independent external auditor, the audit fees and any question of resignation or dismissal. Before the audit commences, the Audit Committee discusses with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit.
- Evaluates and determines non-audit work by the external auditor and keeps under review the non-audit fees paid to the external auditor both in relation to their significance to the auditor and in relation to MHC's total expenditure on consultancy. The non-audit work should be disclosed in the annual report.

(c) Nomination Committee

Office	Name	Date of Appointment	No. of Meetings Held	No. of Meetings Attended	%	Length of Service in the Committee
Chairman	Wong Peng Chong (NED)	July 11, 2011	2	2	67	4
Member (ED)						

Member (NED)						
Member (ID)	Steven G. Virata	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	5
,	Rodrigo B. Supeña	July 11, 2022	2	2	100	4
Member	Araceli C. Molina	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	5

(d) Remuneration Committee

Office	Name	Date of Appointment	No. of Meetings Held	No. of Meetings Attended	%	Length of Service in the Committee
Chairman	Steven G. Virata (ID)	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	5
Member (ED)	Esteban G. Peña Sy	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	5
Member (NED)						
Member (ID)	Rodrigo B. Supeña	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	4
Member	Araceli C. Molina	July 11, 2011	2	2	100	5

(e) Others (Specify): Not applicable

Provide the same information on all other committees constituted by the Board of Directors:

Office	Name	Date of Appointment	No. of Meetings Held	No. of Meetings Attended	%	Length of Service in the Committee
Chairman						
Member (ED)	Not Applicable					
Member (NED)						
Member (ID)						
Member						

3) Changes in Committee Members

Indicate any changes in committee membership that occurred during the year and the reason for the changes:

Name of Committee	Name	Reason	
Executive			
Audit	No changes		
Nomination			
Remuneration			
Others (specify)			

4) Work Done and Issues Addressed

Describe the work done by each committee and the significant issues addressed during the year.

Name of Committee	Work Done	Issues Addressed	
Executive	Not applicable		
Audit	Review of annual and quarterly Financial Statements. Discussion of SEC findings on Second Quarter Report.	Nothing significant.	
Nomination	Recommendation of nominees to be included in the final list of independent directors.	Nothing significant.	
Remuneration	Recommendation of salary increases.	Nothing significant.	

Others (specify)	Not applicable
------------------	----------------

5) Committee Program

Provide a list of programs that each committee plans to undertake to address relevant issues in the improvement or enforcement of effective governance for the coming year.

Name of Committee	Planned Programs	Issues to be Addressed
Executive	Not ap	plicable
Audit	Review of control policies and procedures.	Nothing significant.
Nomination	Pre screen qualifications of nominees for independent directors.	Nothing significant.
Remuneration	Review and evaluate existing remuneration policies and procedures	Nothing significant.
Others (specify)	Not ap	plicable

F. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

- 1) Disclose the following:
 - (a) Overall risk management philosophy of the company;

 The Company aims to identify, measure, analyze, monitor, and control all forms of risks that would affect the Company. It is an integral part of the planning and operations process of the Company in order to meet corporate goals and objectives.
 - (b) A statement that the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and commenting on the adequacy thereof;

The Board of Directors through the Audit Committee is tasked to review the effectiveness of the risk management system the Company employs. In the Audited Financial Statements which the Board and the shareholders approve each year, it says, among others, that "The Management, under the direction of the Board of Directors of the Group is responsible for the management of financial risks. Its objective is to minimize the adverse impacts on the Group's financial performance due to the unpredictability of financial markets."

(c) Period covered by the review;

The Audit Committee periodically reviews the Company's risk management system.

(d) How often the risk management system is reviewed and the directors' criteria for assessing its effectiveness; and

The adequacy of the risk management system is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee. On a quarterly basis, specific risk management processes and findings are reviewed and evaluated.

- (e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not. Not applicable.
- 2) Risk Policy
 - (a) Company

Give a general description of the company's risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s covered by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk:

Risk Exposure	Risk Management Policy	Objective
Foreign Currency Risk	The Company closely monitors the HK and US dollar rates vis-à-vis Philippine Peso since it has foreign currency loans payable in US and HK dollars.	To avoid or minimize loss associated with foreign currency fluctuations.
Liquidity Risk	The Company monitors its cash position and makes cash projections to ensure that obligations are met as they fall due.	To minimize risk of not being able to meet funding obligations.
Interest Rate Risk	The Company borrows at fixed interest rates.	To manage interest cost.
Credit Risk	The Company deposits its available funds	To maintain a high grade of credit quality

	only to reputable and stable banks.	of the Company's financial assets.
Equity Price Risk	Movement in the Company's share price is	To determine the impact of the Company's
	monitored on a daily basis.	share price on its financial position.

(b) Group

Give a general description of the Group's risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s covered by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk:

Risk Exposure	Risk Management Policy	Objective
Same as in 2 (a) above		

(c) Minority Shareholders

Indicate the principal risk of the exercise of controlling shareholders' voting power.

Risk to Minority Shareholders

Due to statutory limitations on the obligations of majority shareholders with respect to minority shareholders, minority shareholders are subject to the risk of the exercise by the majority shareholders of their voting power. However, the Corporation Code provides for minority shareholders' protection in certain instances wherein a vote by the shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock is required. The Corporation Code also grants shareholders an appraisal right allowing a dissenting shareholder to require a corporation to purchase his share in certain instances.

3) Control System Set Up

(a) Company

Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the company:

Risk Exposure	Risk Assessment (Monitoring and Measurement Process)	Risk Management and Control (Structures, Procedures, Actions Taken)
Foreign Currency Risk		
Liquidity Risk	The Company regularly monitors and	Continuous improvement of information
Interest Rate Risk	measures the risk exposure of the	system and internal controls within the
Credit Risk	Company.	Company.
Equity Price Risk		

(b) Group

Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the company:

Risk Exposure	Risk Assessment (Monitoring and Measurement Process)	Risk Management and Control (Structures, Procedures, Actions Taken)

(c) Committee

Identify the committee or any other body of corporate governance in charge of laying down and supervising these control mechanisms, and give details of its functions:

Committee/Unit	Control Mechanism	Details of its Functions	
	Oversight of the integrity of the financial statements and related	Reviews the external auditors' findings on internal controls	
Audit Committee	disclosures	Recommends to the Board the	
	Oversight, assessment and review of	appointment or re-appointment of	
	internal controls	external auditors	

Reviews the quality and reliability of
information prepared for inclusion in
financial reports.

G. INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL

1) Internal Control System

Disclose the following information pertaining to the internal control system of the company:

- (a) Explain how the internal control system is defined for the company;
 Internal controls encompass a set of rules, policies and procedures an organization implements to provide reasonable assurance that (a) its financial reports are reliable; (b) its operations are effective and efficient, and (c) its activities comply with applicable laws and regulations.
- (b) A statement that the directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and whether they consider them effective and adequate;

The Board, through its Audit Committee, meets to discuss and oversee whether the Company is able to comply with the required financial reporting and audit processes, including compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

- (c) Period covered by the review; 2012
- (d) How often internal controls are reviewed and the directors' criteria for assessing the effectiveness of the internal control system; Annually and
- (e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not. Not applicable
- 2) Internal Audit (This section 2 (a) to (e) is not applicable since the Company has no internal auditor owing to its nature as holding company).
 - (a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function

Give a general description of the role, scope of internal audit work and other details of the internal audit function.

Role	Scope	Indicate whether In-house or Outsource Internal Audit Function	Name of Chief Internal Auditor/Auditing Firm	Reporting process

- (b) Do the appointment and/or removal of the Internal Auditor or the accounting /auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced require the approval of the audit committee?
- (c) Discuss the internal auditor's reporting relationship with the audit committee. Does the internal auditor have direct and unfettered access to the board of directors and the audit committee and to all records, properties and personnel?
- (d) Resignation, Re-assignment and Reasons

Disclose any resignation/s or re-assignment of the internal audit staff (including those employed by the third-party auditing firm) and the reason/s for them.

Name of Audit Staff	Reason

(e) Progress against Plans, Issues, Findings and Examination Trends

State the internal audit's progress against plans, significant issues, significant findings and examination trends. Not applicable

Progress Against Plans	
Issues ⁶	
Findings ⁷	
Examination Trends	

[The relationship among progress, plans, issues and findings should be viewed as an internal control review cycle which involves the following step-by-step activities:

- 1) Preparation of an audit plan inclusive of a timeline and milestones;
- 2) Conduct of examination based on the plan;
- 3) Evaluation of the progress in the implementation of the plan;
- 4) Documentation of issues and findings as a result of the examination;
- 5) Determination of the pervasive issues and findings ("examination trends") based on single year result and/or year-to-year results;
- 6) Conduct of the foregoing procedures on a regular basis.]

(f) Audit Control Policies and Procedures

Disclose all internal audit controls, policies and procedures that have been established by the company and the result of an assessment as to whether the established controls, policies and procedures have been implemented under the column "Implementation."

Policies & Procedures	Implementation
Segregation of duties	Yes
Safeguard of assets	Yes
Compliance to Company Policies and Procedures	Yes

(g) Mechanisms and Safeguards

State the mechanism established by the company to safeguard the independence of the auditors, financial analysts, investment banks and rating agencies (example, restrictions on trading in the company's shares and imposition of internal approval procedures for these transactions, limitation on the non-audit services that an external auditor may provide to the company):

Auditors (Internal and External)	Financial Analysts	Investment Banks	Rating Agencies
External Auditors merely	Analysts must conduct	Sending of direct audit	The rating agency must not
request assistance from the	themselves impartially,	confirmation to banks of	enter into commitments which
Company's accountants.	particularly when carrying out	Company's financial assets	prejudice or could prejudice its
Replies to external auditors'	and analyzing their surveys.	and outstanding loans, if any.	freedom on decision making.
requests for confirmation of	They must decline work if there		
account balances go directly	is any doubt as to their		
to them.	impartiality in performing an		
	assignment.		

(h) State the officers (preferably the Chairman and the CEO) who will have to attest to the company's full compliance with the SEC Code of Corporate Governance. Such confirmation must state that all directors, officers and employees of the company have been given proper instruction on their respective duties as mandated by the Code and that internal mechanisms are in place to ensure that compliance.

Compliance Officer countersigned by the Company's President

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ "Issues" are compliance matters that arise from adopting different interpretations.

⁷ "Findings" are those with concrete basis under the company's policies and rules.

H. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS

1) Disclose the company's policy and activities relative to the following:

	Policy	Activities	
Customers' welfare	The Company has no customers since it is a holding firm.	N.A.	
Supplier/contractor selection practice	The Company selects the lowest bidder from at least three suppliers.		
Environmentally friendly value- chain	Compliance with environmental laws have not, and are not anticipated to adversely affect the businesses and financial conditions of the Company. Costs of compliance with environmental laws are either charged as ordinary operating expenses or credited as part of project investment by the Company and its subsidiary.		
Community interaction	The Company is fully cognizant of its sociocivic responsibility of contributing towards the improvement of other peoples' lives.	Donations are made to educational and civic organizations, as well as health, relief and rescue undertakings whenever needed.	
Anti-corruption programmes and procedures?	The Company requires that all its directors, officers, and employees will not make, offer, or authorize any payment, gift, promise, or other advantage, whether directly or through any other person or entity, to or for the use or benefit of any public official or any political party or political party official or candidate for office, where such payment, gift, promise or advantage would violate applicable laws of the Philippines.	The Company's Human Resources Department constantly seeks ways to ensure that all of its employees do not seek nor accept solicitations from public offices and their officers in exchange for favors and undue advantages from the Company.	
Safeguarding creditors' rights	All dealings with creditors are presented to and approved by the Board of Directors.	Loan agreements are signed and promissory notes are issued to creditors in compliance with therequirements.	

- 2) Does the company have a separate corporate responsibility (CR) report/section or sustainability report/section?
- 3) Performance-enhancing mechanisms for employee participation.
 - (a) What are the company's policy for its employees' safety, health, and welfare? The Company provides health insurance to its employees.
 - (b) Show data relating to health, safety and welfare of its employees.

Date	HMO Provider	
February 1, 2012 – January 31, 2013	Maxicare Health Corporation	
February 1, 2010 – January 31, 2012	Eastwest Healthcare, Inc.	
February 1, 2009 – January 31, 2010	Intellicare	

(c) State the company's training and development programmes for its employees. Show the data.

No formal training program for employees. However, if there are training seminars offered by outside parties needed by the employees, the Company sends them. Below are the data:

Date	Seminars Attended	
Annual	Listing and Disclosure Rules Seminar by PSE	
October 18, 2010	Joint Venture and Syndications for Real Estate Projects	
Annual	Mid-Year or Year-End Economic Briefing by UA&P	

(d) State the company's reward/compensation policy that accounts for the performance of the company beyond short-term financial measures

All employees are entitled to retirement benefits as provided for the in the New Retirement Law under the Labor Code after having served the Company for more than five (5) years and upon reaching the age of sixty (60) for voluntary retirement or sixty five (65) for compulsory retirement.

4) What are the company's procedures for handling complaints by employees concerning illegal (including corruption) and unethical behaviour? Explain how employees are protected from retaliation.

Any violation of the Company's Code of Ethics will result in an inquiry to establish the facts and possibly result in disciplinary action. Cases of doubt should be referred to the Executive Committee or the President.

I. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

- 1) Ownership Structure
 - (a) Holding 5% shareholding or more

Shareholder	Number of Shares	Percent	Beneficial Owner
Prokey Investment Ltd.	351,289,763	29.27%	Esteban G. Peña Sy
PCD Nominee Corporation (Foreign)	347,928,000	28.99%	Various
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)	334,663,998	27.89%	Various

Name of Senior Management	Number of Direct shares	Number of Indirect shares / Through (name of record owner)	% of Capital Stock
Roberto V. San Jose	600		-nil-
Esteban G. Peña Sy	50	353,299,763	29.44%
Delfin P. Angcao	691		-nil-
Steven G. Virata	100		-nil-
Rodrigo B. Supeña	50		-nil-
Ana Maria A. Katigbak-Lim	50		-nil-
Wong Peng Chong	50		-nil-
Kong Muk Yin	50		-nil-
Araceli C. Molina	50		-nil-
TOTAL	1,691	353,299,763	29.44%

2) Does the Annual Report disclose the following:

Key risks	Yes
Corporate objectives	Yes
Financial performance indicators	Yes
Non-financial performance indicators	Yes
Dividend policy	Yes
Details of whistle-blowing policy	N/A
Biographical details (at least age, qualifications, date of first appointment, relevant experience, and any other directorships of listed companies) of directors/commissioners	Yes
Training and/or continuing education programme attended by each director/commissioner	No

Number of board of directors/commissioners meetings held during the year	No
Attendance details of each director/commissioner in respect of meetings held	No
Details of remuneration of the CEO and each member of the board of directors/commissioners	Yes (Total remuneration disclosed)

Should the Annual Report not disclose any of the above, please indicate the reason for the non-disclosure.

3) External Auditor's fee

Name of auditor	Audit Fee	Non-audit Fee
Isla Lipana & Co., Inc.	P525,000	None

4) Medium of Communication

List down the mode/s of communication that the company is using for disseminating information. Written memos, email and oral communication.

5) Date of release of audited financial report: April 15, 2013

6) Company Website

Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information about the following?

Business operations	Yes
Financial statements/reports (current and prior years)	Yes
Materials provided in briefings to analysts and media	Not applicable. We have not provided materials to analysts and media.
Shareholding structure	Yes
Group corporate structure	Yes
Downloadable annual report	Yes
Notice of AGM and/or EGM	Yes
Company's constitution (company's by-laws, memorandum and articles of association)	Yes

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto.

7) Disclosure of RPT

RPT	Relationship	Nature	Value
Disclosed in the Audited Financial Statements			

When RPTs are involved, what processes are in place to address them in the manner that will safeguard the interest of the company and in particular of its minority shareholders and other stakeholders? *Transactions entered into by the Group with related parties are at arm's length basis and have terms similar to the transactions entered into by the company with third parties.*

J. RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS

1) Right to participate effectively in and vote in Annual/Special Stockholders' Meetings

(a) Quorum

Give details on the quorum required to convene the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting as set forth in its By-laws.

	At least a majority of the outstanding capital stock, except in cases where a
Quorum Required	higher quorum requirement is mandated by the Corporation Code, in which
•	case, two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding shares shall be required.

(b) System Used to Approve Corporate Acts

Explain the system used to approve corporate acts.

System Used	All corporate acts of the Board of Directors and Management are ratified and approved by the stockholders.
Description	In the Notice of Annual Stockholders' Meeting to stockholders as of record date, the agenda includes the ratification of resolutions, contracts and acts of the Board of Directors and Management. The corporate acts are then ratified and approved by the stockholders during the actual stockholders' meeting.

(c) Stockholders' Rights

List any Stockholders' Rights concerning Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting that differ from those laid down in the Corporation Code.

Stockholders' Rights under The Corporation Code	Stockholders' Rights <u>not</u> in The Corporation Code
In accordance with the Company's By-Laws and Manual on Corporate Governance	None

Dividends

Declaration Date	Record Date	Payment Date
Not Applicable		

(d) Stockholders' Participation

1. State, if any, the measures adopted to promote stockholder participation in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting, including the procedure on how stockholders and other parties interested may communicate directly with the Chairman of the Board, individual directors or board committees. Include in the discussion the steps the Board has taken to solicit and understand the views of the stockholders as well as procedures for putting forward proposals at stockholders' meetings.

Measures Adopted	Communication Procedure
1. In the Annual Stockholders' Meeting, the Chairman of the Board always opens the floor to questions from stockholders after the President's Report.	Question and answer portion in the Stockholders' Meeting.
The Company put up a website where contact details are provided.	2. Through telephone, telefax , ordinary mail or email.

- 2. State the company policy of asking shareholders to actively participate in corporate decisions regarding:
 - a. Amendments to the company's constitution: Subject to Stockholders' approval
 - b. Authorization of additional shares: Subject to Stockholders' approval
 - c. Transfer of all or substantially all assets, which in effect results in the sale of the company: Subject to Stockholders' approval
- 3. Does the company observe a minimum of 15 business days for giving out of notices to the AGM where items to be resolved by shareholders are taken up? Yes

- a. Date of sending out notices: September 6, 2012
- b. Date of the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting: October 5, 2012
- 4. State, if any, questions and answers during the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting.

As is normally the case, after the Management Report of the President, the Chairman of the Board opened the floor to the stockholders for any questions they may have on the Report and the Audited Financial Statements. There had been some questions that were satisfactorily answered, after which, the stockholders applauded as a sign of appreciation for the President's Report.

5. Result of Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting's Resolutions

Resolution	Approving	Dissenting	Abstaining
Approval of the Minutes of Previous Stockholders' Meeting	67.59%	None	None
Report of Management and approval of the 2011 Audited Financial Statements	67.59%	None	None
Ratification of the Corporate acts of the Board of Directors and Management	67.59%	None	None
Election of Directors	67.59%	None	None
Appointment of External Auditor	67.59%	None	None

6. Date of publishing of the result of the votes taken during the most recent AGM for all resolutions: October 5, 2012

(e) Modifications

State, if any, the modifications made in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting regulations during the most recent year and the reason for such modification:

Modifications	Reason for Modification
No modifications made	

(f) Stockholders' Attendance

(i) Details of Attendance in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting Held:

Type of Meeting	Names of Board members / Officers present	Date of Meeting	Voting Procedure (by poll, show of hands, etc.)	% of SH Attending in Person	% of SH in Proxy	Total % of SH attendance
Annual	Esteban G. Peña Sy Ana Maria A. Katigbak Rodrigo B. Supeña Steven G. Virata	Oct. 5, 2012	As Provided for in the Definitive Information Statement	29.32%	38.27%	67.59%
Special	No Special Stockholders' Meeting held in 2012					

- (ii) Does the company appoint an independent party (inspectors) to count and/or validate the votes at the ASM/SSMs? Representatives from Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation, the Corporation's stock and transfer agent, attends the Annual Stockholders' Meeting to validate the votes.
- (iii) Do the company's common shares carry one vote for one share? <u>Yes</u>. If not, disclose and give reasons for any divergence to this standard. Where the company has more than one class of shares, describe the voting rights attached to each class of shares. <u>Not applicable</u>.

(g) Proxy Voting Policies

State the policies followed by the company regarding proxy voting in the Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting.

	Company's Policies	
Execution and acceptance of proxies	In accordance with the Notice of Annual Stockholders' Meeting attached to the Definitive Information Statement issued by the Corporate Secretary. Such notice includes the procedures for the execution and acceptance of proxies.	
Notary	Required	
Submission of Proxy		
Several Proxies	In accordance with the Notice of Annual Stockholders' Meeting attached to the Definitive Information Statement issued by the Corporate Secretary.	
Validity of Proxy	Such notice includes the procedures for the execution and acceptance of proxies.	
Proxies executed abroad		
Invalidated Proxy	Not applicable	
Validation of Proxy	In accordance with the Notice of Annual Stockholders' Meeting attached to the Definitive Information Statement issued by the Corporate Secretary. Such notice includes the procedures for the execution and acceptance of proxies.	
Violation of Proxy	Not applicable but in case there will be a violation, it will be dealt with in accordance with the Corporation Code.	

(h) Sending of Notices

State the company's policies and procedure on the sending of notices of Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting.

Policies	Procedure	
In accordance with the SRC Rule 20		

(i) Definitive Information Statements and Management Report

Number of Stockholders entitled to receive		
Definitive Information Statements and	229	
Management Report and Other Materials		
Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive		
Information Statement and Management Report	Contambor 13, 2013	
and Other Materials held by market	September 12, 2012	
participants/certain beneficial owners		
Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive		
Information Statement and Management Report	September 12, 2012	
and Other Materials held by stockholders		
State whether CD format or hard copies were	Hard copies were distributed.	
distributed		
If yes, indicate whether requesting stockholders	Hard copies were provided.	
were provided hard copies	riara copies were provided.	

(j) Does the Notice of Annual/Special Stockholders' Meeting include the following:

Each resolution to be taken up deals with only one item.	Yes
Profiles of directors (at least age, qualification, date of first appointment, experience, and directorships in other listed companies) nominated for election/re-election.	Yes
The auditors to be appointed or re-appointed.	Yes

An explanation of the dividend policy, if any dividend is to be declared.	Not applicable. No dividends were declared.
The amount payable for final dividends.	
Documents required for proxy vote.	Yes

Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto.

2) Treatment of Minority Stockholders

(a) State the company's policies with respect to the treatment of minority stockholders.

Policies	Implementation
Right to vote on all matters that require their consent or approval	One share equals one vote. The stockholders are encouraged to personally attend the Annual Stockholders' Meeting. If they cannot attend, they are appraised ahead of time of their right to appoint a proxy. Subject to the requirements of the by-laws, the exercise of that right is not unduly restricted and any doubt about the validity of a proxy is resolved in the stockholders' favor.
Right to inspect corporate books and records	Affirmative.
Right to information	The Company's website is open to the public most specially to the stockholders. Material information is disclosed to SEC and PSE.
Right to dividends	The Board of Directors shall, whenever in its opinion the condition of the Corporation's affairs will render it expedient, declare dividends to the Stockholders of the Corporation out of prior year's net profits in such accounts and on such dates as the Board of Directors shall determine. In the declaration of the dividends the Board shall consider the possibility of adopting a policy of declaring dividends in such amount as will equal 50% of the prior year's net profits.
	A stockholder has the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his shares: (i) in case any amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences over the outstanding shares, or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence: (ii) in case of any sale, lease, mortgage or disposition of all or substantially all of the corporate property or assets; (iii) in case of merger or consolidation; and (iv) in case of investment of corporate funds in another corporation or business or for any purpose other than the primary purpose.
Appraisal right	If an action which may give rise to the right of appraisal is proposed at the meeting, any stockholder who voted against the proposed action and who wishes to exercise such right must make a written demand, within thirty (30) days after the date of the meeting or when the vote was taken, for the payment of the fair market value of his shares. Upon payment, he must surrender his certificates of stock. No payment shall be made to any dissenting stockholder unless the Company has unrestricted retained earnings in its books to cover such payment.
	There are no matters or corporate actions that had given rise to a possible exercise by security shareholders of their appraisal rights under the provisions of the Corporation Code of the Philippines.

(b) Do minority stockholders have a right to nominate candidates for board of directors? Yes

K. INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM

1) Discuss the company's external and internal communications policies and how frequently they are reviewed. Disclose who reviews and approves major company announcements. Identify the committee with this responsibility, if it has been assigned to a committee.

External and internal policies are all in accordance with the Company's By-Laws, Manual on Corp. Governance and Company Policy Manual. The Corporate Secretary is responsible for reviewing the company disclosures, getting approval from the President or Chairman for the release of such disclosures to the public.

2) Describe the company's investor relations program including its communications strategy to promote effective communication with its stockholders, other stakeholders and the public in general. Disclose the contact details (e.g. telephone, fax and email) of the officer responsible for investor relations.

	Details
(1) Objectives	Timely disclosure of material information to stakeholders. Disclosure of annual and quarterly financial performance.
(2) Principles	Timely and accurate disclosure of material and relevant information to shareholders.
(3) Modes of Communications	Company website and telephone lines
(4) Investors Relations Officer	No designated officer as such. However, the following officers can be contacted: Esteban G. Peña Sy, President Delfin P. Angcao, Corporate Secretary Araceli C. Molina, Chief Financial & Compliance Officer

3) What are the company's rules and procedures governing the acquisition of corporate control in the capital markets, and extraordinary transactions such as mergers, and sales of substantial portions of corporate assets? Legal and regulatory requirements of SEC and PSE will be followed in case of such events.

Name of the independent party the board of directors of the company appointed to evaluate the fairness of the transaction price. No such events took place. The Company is open to hire external assistance for due diligence.

L. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES

Discuss any initiative undertaken or proposed to be undertaken by the company.

Initiative	Beneficiary
Proposed to be undertaken is in the area of education	Youth located in Binangonan where the low cost housing project of IRC Properties, Inc., an affiliate of the Company, is located.

M. BOARD, DIRECTOR, COMMITTEE AND CEO APPRAISAL

Disclose the process followed and criteria used in assessing the annual performance of the board and its committees, individual director, and the CEO/President.

	Process	Criteria
Board of Directors	None in place. Moving forward, a formal policy will be adopted following best practices.	
Board Committees		
Individual Directors		
CEO/President		

N. INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS

Discuss the internal policies on sanctions imposed for any violation or breach of the corporate governance manual involving directors, officers, management and employees

Violations	Sanctions
------------	-----------

First Violation	Depending on the offense, written reprimand, suspension for a no. of days, or dismissal.
Second Violation	
Third Violation	Depending on the offense, suspension for a no. of days or dismissal.
Fourth Violation	
Fifth Violation	Dismissal

to the requirement of the Securities and Exchange Commission, this Annual Corporate Governance Report is behalf of the registrant by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Makati on January 2,

SIGNATURES

ROBERTO V. SAN JOSE

Chairman of the Board

ESTEBAN G. PEÑA SY

Chief Executive Officer

PROMPINGIO B. SUPEÑA

Windlepperident Director

Independent Director

. .

ARACELI C. MOLINA

Compliance Officer

5.45.7.5 and 5.07.0 before me a word Public, for and in Makati City, this 2nd day of January 2014, affiants

Senior Orizen/

CTC No./

A.T.	Passport No.	1_
Roberto V. San Jose	10687007	Fel
Esteban G. Peña Sy Steven Cesar G. Virata	22013118 EB1974965	Jar - Fel
Rodrigo B. Supeña	1993631	Jul 1
Araceli C. Molina	EB6277353	Sel

Place of Issue

Place of Issue

Place of Issue

Physical Makati City

Makati City

Makati City

February 24, 2011 July 2002

September 6, 2012

Makati City Makati City Manila Makati City Manila

ATTY. GERVACIO B. ORTIZ JR NOTARY Public City of Makati

Until December 31, 2014 IBP No. 656155-Lifetime Member MCLE Compliance No. III-0014282 Appointment No. M-199-(2013-2014)

PTR No. 4225505 Jan. 2, 2014/Makati Makati City Poll No. 40091

Maka'i City Roll No. 40091 101 Urban Avg., Brgy. Pio del Pilar, Makati City

Doc. No. |8|
Page No. |38
Book No. |

Series of 2014